

Policy Brief by

Open Markets Institute & Friends of the Earth



**MARCH 2023** 



## Acknowledgements

This report was written by Claire Kelloway, food program director for the Open Markets Institute, and Jason Davidson, senior food and agriculture campaigner at Friends of the Earth, with research support from Alexandra Spring.

**The Open Markets Institute** is a nonprofit organization made up of researchers, lawyers, and economists dedicated to exposing the dangers of monopolization and identifying changes in policy and law to address them. Open Markets seeks to hold today's monopolies accountable for abuses of power and rebuild an economic system where progress is easier to achieve because power is far more widely and equitably distributed. Visit <a href="https://www.openmarketsinstitute.org">www.openmarketsinstitute.org</a> to learn more.

Friends of the Earth United States, founded by David Brower in 1969, is the U.S. voice of the world's largest federation of grassroots environmental groups, with a presence in 75 countries. Friends of the Earth works to defend the environment and champion a more healthy and just world. We have provided crucial leadership in campaigns resulting in landmark environmental laws, precedent-setting legal victories and groundbreaking reforms of domestic and international regulatory, corporate and financial institution policies. Visit www.foe.org to learn more.

The authors would like to thank Dr. Steve Suppan, senior policy analyst at the Institute for Agriculture and Trade Policy, for reviewing and providing feedback on this report. Any errors remain the sole responsibility of the authors.

© Copyright March 2023 by Open Markets Institute and Friends of the Earth

Design: Miquel Kendrick

This report is for general information purposes only. It is intended solely as a discussion piece. It is not and should not be relied upon as legal advice. While efforts were made to ensure the accuracy of the information contained in this report and the above information is from sources believed reliable, the information is presented "as is" and without warranties, express or implied. If there are material errors within this briefing note, please advise the author.

**Correction:** This report was updated May 2023 to correct an error. A previous version of this report stated that agroforestry can sequester 10 to 20 times more carbon per acre than notill or cover cropping, citing a study abstract. However, the cited study actually found that, by conservative estimates, agroforestry can sequester 2 to 5 times more carbon per acre. We sincerely apologize for this error.

### **Contents**

Introduction	2
Agriculture, Climate Change, and Soil Carbon	4
SOIL AS A LIVING SYSTEM	4
REGENERATIVE FARMING APPROACHES	4
A REDUCTIONIST APPROACH TO CARBON FARMING	5
THE CHALLENGE OF MEASURING SOIL CARBON	5
What Are "Carbon Markets?" And Do They Work?	<del>6</del>
How Voluntary Carbon Payment Programs Entrench Big Ag	9
LETTING BIG AG DEFINE CARBON-SMART FARMING	10
COMPOUNDING MONOPOLY POWER THROUGH DATA ACQUISITION AND BUNDLING	11
LONG-TERM CONTRACTS LIMIT FARMER AUTONOMY AND TIE THEM TO A NEW, VOLATILE "COMMODITY"	
Conclusion and Recommendations	13
How Big Ag's Carbon Payment Programs Work	9
SIDEBAR: BAYER'S CARBON PROGRAM	9
SIDEBAR: CARGILL'S CARBON PROGRAM	10
SIDEBAR: CORTEVA'S CARBON INITIATIVE WITH INDIGO AG	11
Endnotes	15

### Introduction



Farmers could become a big part of the solution to climate change by adopting certain farming practices that can take carbon from the air and store it in the ground. Unfortunately, politicians on both sides of the aisle are embracing policies that, while purporting to enlist agriculture in reducing greenhouse gas

emissions, are actually serving to entrench corporate power, increase the use of harmful chemicals, worsen social and racial inequities, and forestall meaningful reforms.

These policies involve the buying and selling of socalled "carbon-offset" credits. In its simplest form, the idea begins with granting credits to farmers who adopt certain practices, such as planting more trees and cover crops, that are supposed to remove carbon from the atmosphere. Farmers then receive compensation for their efforts by selling these credits to other entities, typically large corporations. These corporations, in turn, use their purchases of such credits to justify claims of environmental responsibility. Though they may still be emitting carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gasses into the atmosphere, they claim to have "offset" these emissions by paying others to pollute less or actively sequester carbon, often to the point of asserting that they now have a "net-zero" climate impact. Demand for these offsets is growing. A fifth of the world's largest corporations have publicly promised to reach a "netzero" goal.1

Carbon-offset programs have become a leading U.S. policy approach for mitigating agriculture's climate impact. Politicians, agribusinesses, and environmental groups alike backed the Growing Climate Solutions Act,

which was included in the Fiscal Year 2023 Omnibus Appropriations Bill as the "Greenhouse Gas Technical Assistance Provider and Third-Party Verifier Program". The provision would direct USDA to list private carbon market facilitators on its website and broadly list protocols for measuring carbon sequestration. Paying farmers for sequestering carbon got an indirect nod in President Biden's signature climate legislation, the Inflation Reduction Act. Most recently, the U.S. Department of Agriculture announced that it will give over half a billion dollars in grants to projects advancing private carbon markets as a part of its larger climatesmart commodities initiative.<sup>2</sup> But behind this appealing market-based narrative lies a deeply concerning trail of uncertainties, fraud, and corporate exploitation.

First, unlike regulatory "cap-and-trade" markets designed to control other forms of pollution, such as sulphur dioxide emissions, these voluntary carbonoffset schemes do not put a cap on the total amount of pollution allowed. They are cap-and-trade programs without the cap. Without any mandated climate pollution limits, carbon-offset trading is unlikely to result in any actual net reduction in the amount of carbon in the atmosphere. Moreover, because polluters can, as we will see, buy credits from projects that overestimate carbon sequestration or fail to store carbon in the long term, these carbon-trading schemes run the risk of actually increasing carbon emissions.<sup>3</sup>

Even if these schemes did impose a cap on carbon emissions, applying a market-trading system to soil carbon would still be unworkable. Reliably and consistently measuring or modeling soil carbon is still very challenging, especially when it comes to quantifying changes in soil carbon year over year. Soil carbon samples taken from the same field can lead to very different results. Offset programs seek to pay farmers annually, but meaningfully increasing soil carbon

can take over a decade to succeed.<sup>4</sup> What's more, soil carbon storage is very fickle. Carbon sequestered in the soil can be released with a change in land management practices or through severe weather events, therefore failing to sequester carbon long-term.<sup>5</sup>

Third-party certifiers aim to ease these concerns about soil carbon impermanence or measurability by claiming to provide verification of carbon sequestration. However, there are dozens of different certifiers using dozens of varied, unregulated standards. Most of these certifiers rely on theoretical modeling of carbon sequestration as opposed to actual soil measurements. Such fundamental uncertainties will lead to wildly variable carbon-offset prices. Without basic market fundamentals of information exchange and consistent commodities, selling and buying offsets is little more than speculation.

Thus, these carbon-offset schemes rest on yet developing science and are plagued with measurement problems that prevent them from being anything like a true market that limits climate change by putting a real price on carbon. Far from making polluters pay the price for the harm they cause to others, these schemes allow them to buy paper certificates, based on uncertain science, that they use as marketing tools to deceive the public and policymakers. The schemes allow corporations to make bold and misleading marketing claims about their contributions to reducing climate change, effectively giving polluters a way to "greenwash" their carbon footprints.

The schemes allow corporations to make bold and misleading marketing claims about their contributions to reducing climate change, effectively giving polluters a way to "greenwash" their carbon footprints.

To make matters worse, big agribusiness corporations are using the system to deepen their own monopolistic power. Programs run by corporations such as Cargill, Bayer, Nutrien, and Corteva pay farmers for adopting

specific farming practices that either depend on the companies' proprietary technologies or require farmers to use their digital agriculture platforms. For example, Bayer promotes using its glyphosate-based herbicides like Roundup to control weeds in lieu of tillage and to "knock down" cover crops. 6 Bayer also requires farmers to upload data through its digital agriculture program, FieldView, to certify their credits, driving more farmers and their valuable information to the platform. Under these private carbon-offset programs, agribusiness giants define climate-smart agriculture and promote large-scale, monoculture, chemical-dependent farming methods that can harm the environment in the long run and further entrench their market power. By controlling the same private, unregulated carbon-offset markets in which they trade on their own account and set their own prices, they are also subject to massive conflicts of interest.

Finally, carbon-offset programs aggravate ongoing social injustices. Generally, only larger, mechanized farms will be able to earn enough from carbon offsets to cover the costs of implementing the required farm practices. Meanwhile, to the extent that the availability of carbon offsets inflate the price of farmland, this will make it still harder for people of modest means to become farmers. Moreover, these offsetting schemes fail to clean up the environment and may intensify pollution hotspots in low-wealth communities and communities of color in the U.S. and the Global South.

There's no doubt that farmers should be supported in shifting to ecologically regenerative methods. But the evidence shows that using carbon offsets to do so is a counter-productive and inequitable approach that will let big polluters off the hook and fail the needs of family farmers. Congress and the USDA should not waste time and resources promoting this questionable and harmful approach. Policymakers have far more effective and proven tools already at their disposal to promote climate-friendly farming methods that do not exacerbate the liabilities and harms of private carbon-trading schemes.

# Agriculture, Climate Change, and Soil Carbon



Agriculture and forestry account for some 22% of global greenhouse gas emissions. The most direct way that the agricultural sector can help fight climate change is by lowering its carbon footprint via practices such as raising fewer livestock in factory farm conditions, reducing use of synthetic

fertilizers and pesticides, and preventing the conversion of existing biodiverse, carbon-rich ecosystems, such as forests, into farmland to begin with. But the focus of most agriculture carbon-credit programs, and thus the focus of this report, is on farmers' ability to sequester carbon in soil.

How farmers treat their soil has significant climate implications given that farmers and ranchers manage more than half of the U.S. land base. <sup>10</sup> Investments in supporting farmers to transition to more biodiverse, agroecological, and perennial farming methods could help sequester more carbon in the soil, reduce reliance on synthetic fertilizers and pesticides, and make farms more resilient in the face of climate change. However, most carbon-offset programs focus on promoting cover-cropping and reduced tillage along with otherwise chemical-dependent and monoculture farming practices. These methods are not as effective for sequestering carbon and introduce other environmental harms.

#### **SOIL AS A LIVING SYSTEM**

Earth's soils contain more carbon than all its biomass and atmosphere, combined.<sup>11</sup> The life of soil is at the heart of its ability to capture and store carbon. Plants take in carbon from the air and use it as the basis for plant matter. This carbon is released through

roots into the soil thanks to a teeming ecosystem of microorganisms. Invertebrates such as earthworms and springtails also feed on fallen plants, breaking them down and excreting carbon-rich casts and feces, mixing organic matter into the soil as they go.<sup>12</sup>

Thus, one key component of truly regenerative farming systems is that they protect and enhance soil biodiversity. Research shows that the pesticides commonly used in U.S. agriculture pose a serious threat to soil organisms. <sup>13</sup> A recent meta-review found that pesticides kill or harm soil invertebrates in 71% of cases studied. <sup>14</sup> This makes it very concerning that some of the largest players in the establishment of soil carbon markets are pesticide companies like Bayer and Corteva.

Additionally, soil carbon is just one indicator of the health of agricultural ecosystems and is difficult to accurately measure compared to others. Other measures such as soil biodiversity and water filtration can give a more holistic picture of soil health. Focusing only on carbon could incentivize a reductionist approach to carbon farming, further entrenching unsustainable, chemical-intensive industrial agriculture practices.

#### REGENERATIVE FARMING APPROACHES

Practices such as cover-cropping, crop diversification, agroforestry, and applying compost can be part of holistic regenerative farming systems. Data on organic farming — which depends on ecological methods to build soil health and control pests, and which prohibits the use of over 900 agricultural pesticides — demonstrates that these methods can improve soil carbon sequestration. Organic farms have been found to sequester up to 25 percent more carbon in the soil<sup>15</sup> and achieve deeper and more persistent carbon storage<sup>16</sup> than farms using agrichemical approaches.

Biodiverse farming and ranching systems that incorporate trees, shrubs, and perennial plants also have greater potential to sequester carbon than annual cropping systems. One study estimated that adopting agroforestry on just 10% of U.S. crop and grazing lands could sequester enough carbon to offset up to 30% of all U.S. annual carbon emissions. <sup>17</sup> Another study found that, even by conservative estimates, agroforestry can sequester 2 to 5 times more carbon per acre than practices such as no-till or cover-cropping. <sup>18</sup>

# A REDUCTIONIST APPROACH TO CARBON FARMING

Despite the available data demonstrating that diverse and agroecological farming systems have the greatest potential to sequester carbon, most agricultural carboncredit programs promote practices that are compatible with monoculture annual crop production, including no-till farming and cover-cropping.

While some data show the potential for no-till agriculture to improve soil carbon sequestration, <sup>19</sup> the latest data show that no-till may actually redistribute soil carbon from the deeper layers into the top layers of soil rather than increase soil carbon stocks. <sup>20</sup> This effect could cause more carbon release from soil rather than storing it deep in the ground where it is more stable — particularly as intermittent tillage may be important in no-till systems in some regions. <sup>21</sup>

One meta-study looking at 69 experiments around the globe found no significant difference in soil carbon levels between conventionally tilled and no-till fields when studies measured the deeper layers of soil.<sup>22</sup> Some studies examining carbon at deeper soil depths also cast doubt on the ability of cover crops alone to sequester carbon. Using multiple practices together may improve outcomes; for example, one study found that cover-cropping combined with no-till may sequester more soil carbon than released in the long term.<sup>23</sup>

# THE CHALLENGE OF MEASURING SOIL CARBON

While it is evident that some farming practices have more carbon-sequestering potential than others, the science of agricultural soil carbon sequestration is complex and developing. There isn't a clear consensus on how long carbon remains in the soil or under what conditions.<sup>24</sup> Disturbing soil and changing weather can release years of stored soil carbon into the atmosphere.<sup>25</sup> There are major uncertainties around measuring year-to-year changes in soil carbon, the very type of measurements needed to make annual payments to farmers for implementing practices such as cover-cropping or notill farming.<sup>26</sup> Other studies suggest that soil may reach a carbon saturation point past which no more carbon can be stored.<sup>27</sup>

Soil carbon sequestration also varies considerably by soil type and climate and can even vary significantly within a single field.<sup>28</sup> One study found that soil carbon concentrations can vary fivefold in a seemingly uniform field.<sup>29</sup> The tools required to measure soil carbon to the degree of accuracy needed to ensure integrity in a carbon market do not exist.<sup>30</sup> Without adequate measurement tools, farmers and carbon-offset sellers can't actually determine how many tons of carbon their credits represent.

The tools required to measure soil carbon to the degree of accuracy needed to ensure integrity in a carbon market do not exist.

With so much uncertainty and variability in measuring and modeling soil carbon sequestration, programs that aim to quantify and commoditize farmers' total tons of sequestered carbon are largely based on assumptions and projections rather than actual measurements. In addition, new understandings of how microorganisms

break down soil carbon suggest that many computer carbon models, including those used to estimate carbon sequestration for carbon credits, overestimate how much carbon will stay in the soil.<sup>31</sup>

All of these challenges create fundamental issues when carbon payment programs try to turn farmers' sequestered carbon projections into sellable offset credits in carbon markets. If buyers can't trust that any given carbon credit represents the tons of offset carbon that it claims to, how can they assign it a value and price?

If buyers can't trust that any given carbon credit represents the tons of offset carbon that it claims to, how can they assign it a value and price?

## What Are "Carbon Markets?" And Do They Work?



The logic behind carbon payments seems simple at first – pay farmers to adopt practices that sequester carbon by generating and selling credits representing that carbon to corporate buyers. But the reality is much more complicated when it's not clear if credits represent the pollution

reductions that they claim to and corporations are able to corner credit sales.

Many major corporations have made pledges to reduce their net climate footprint. Where businesses cannot (or do not want to) change their practices to reduce their pollution, they can pay to reduce pollution elsewhere by buying carbon-offset credits. This "market-based" pollution-trading concept shares ideological roots with the regulatory cap-and-trade scheme, in which governments set a pollution limit (the cap) and issue pollution allowances that entities can use, sell, or buy (trade). The theory goes, trading in

pollution credits can allocate scarce resources for more efficient environmental clean-up – it may cost less for a big polluter to pay someone else to reduce pollution elsewhere.

But unlike cap-and-trade and other regulatory carbon markets, which require corporations to comply with a shrinking pollution limit, so-called "voluntary" or private carbon-offset sales are not made to comply with regulation. Nor do offsets represent a scarce pollution allowance. Offsets can be generated from new projects claiming to reduce or remove pollution. There is no central commodities exchange for trading carbon offsets. Corporations voluntarily buy these offsets through a variety of exchanges and certification programs to make green marketing claims and meet internal climate goals of their choosing.

For now, most U.S. agricultural carbon offsets are sold through private exchanges and programs to corporate buyers. In some cases, agribusiness corporations recruit and pay farmers directly for adopting carbon-sequestering practices without going through any sort of exchange.

The generally regulation-averse agriculture industry has rallied behind the idea of paying farmers to help the planet by generating carbon offsets for corporate buyers. More than 175 organizations and companies endorsed legislation aimed at directing farmers toward the carbon-offset "green rush," called the Growing Climate Solutions Act. Legislators included a watered-down version of the bill in the 2023 Fiscal Year Omnibus Appropriations Bill. USDA has also invested in growing agriculture carbon-offset programs through its Climate Smart Commodities grants.

Proponents of agricultural carbon offsets extol the notion that they're harnessing the power of markets to match demand for pollution reduction with farmers that can be incentivized to sequester carbon for the right price. But upon closer inspection, these transactions lack many basic market mechanisms and can be cornered by corporate buyers.

For one, some of the carbon-offset programs run by the largest agribusiness corporations exist outside any kind of carbon-offset exchange where buyers bid for credits. Bayer and Cargill both unilaterally set the price they'll pay farmers for adopting no-till or cover crops and claim any generated credits, which they can then sell to other buyers or keep to meet their corporate emissions reduction goals. This gives Bayer and Cargill power to determine how much they want to pay for greenwashing marketing claims and denies farmers any semblance of a fair price for their offsets determined through supply and demand.

But even when farmers do sell their offsets on more competitive and open exchanges, the product that they're selling doesn't meet the standards for a tradable commodity. Carbon offsets are anything but standard and fungible like a bushel of corn or barrel of oil. Their value and price rely entirely on the offset's perceived (not actual) integrity: does the buyer believe that this credit *actually* represents the total tons of carbon that it claims to? Offset integrity is challenging to ascertain and depends on the measurement and verification standards of the project and certification that generated the credit.

The sheer number of certifiers and lack of strict standards amid scientific uncertainty allows for many phony or imprecise credits to enter the market. A University of California Berkeley research fellow, Barbara Haya, told *Grist* that it is "mind-bogglingly difficult to find high-quality offsets." An independent review of more than 100 projects globally found that 90 percent of the projects failed to offset as much as they claimed, were not permanent, or came with damaging side effects for local communities or ecosystems. A 2017 report by the European Commission estimated that 75% of the carbon credits in the EU's carbon trading system had a low likelihood of reducing emissions. In California, exploitable carbon-credit protocols have actually led to an increase in carbon emissions.

A 2017 report by the European Commission estimated that 75% of the carbon credits in the EU's carbon trading system had a low likelihood of reducing emissions.

Because of these validity concerns, U.S. agriculture carbon-offset sales have struggled to take off in the past. Most notably, in 2012 the U.S.'s predominant voluntary carbon-credit exchange, the Chicago Climate Exchange (CCX), collapsed due to insufficient demand for credits and credibility concerns. Without standardized measurement or verification methods, traders on the CCX were able to claim bogus carbon credits. The value of carbon credits became unclear, the intangible commodity became meaningless, and the price plummeted.

Today, there is much more demand for carbon credits. McKinsey estimates that demand for carbon offsets will increase fifteenfold over the next decade and the market for carbon credits could reach more than \$50 billion. However, while proponents argue that standards are much stronger than in 2012 or when the European Commission studied offsets in 2017, significant credibility issues remain. A 2021 study by the Environmental Defense Fund and Woodwell Climate Research Center of 12 protocols for measuring

and evaluating soil organic carbon found such wide variation between protocols that it "run[s] the risk of creating credits that are not equivalent or even comparable." Without basic market mechanisms for price discovery and transparent, agreed-upon value, carbon offsets remain rife for speculation and volatility.

The Growing Climate Solutions Act, or "Greenhouse Gas Technical Assistance Provider and Third-Party Verifier Program," will attempt to increase confidence in companies working to facilitate farmer participation in carbon markets by listing protocols for measuring carbon sequestration and companies with whom farmers or forest owners can work to generate and sell carbon credits on USDA's website. This might sound like a regulation, but it's not. To be listed on USDA's website, businesses need to share some basic information about how they measure and certify credits and "maintain expertise" in carbon-verification protocols. But they do not need to comply with any set measurement techniques or carbon modeling.

At the same time, Congress also included the SUSTAINS Act in the 2023 Fiscal Year Omnibus Appropriations Bill. This bill will allow USDA to accept "contributions of private funds for the purpose of addressing the changing climate, sequestering carbon, improving wildlife habitat, protecting sources of drinking water, and addressing other natural resource priorities identified by the secretary."38 Most relevant to soil carbon markets, the bill also specifies that a corporation contributing to USDA may specify which practices to fund and prescribe the terms for ownership of the corporation's share of environmental service credits resulting from practices the corporation paid for. In other words, corporate sponsors get a cut of any carbon credits generated with the help of their donations.

The bill opens the door for private carbon market schemes to rope farmers and foresters into restrictive contracts under the banner of NRCS Conservation programs. USDA will even be tasked with advertising such opportunities. While the version of the Growing

Climate Solutions Act included in the Omnibus may have removed explicit USDA-certification of private carbon schemes, the SUSTAINS Act goes a step in the opposite direction. Private carbon schemes will essentially, through a grant to USDA, be considered government programs themselves.

Lending such legitimacy to fledgling soil carbon-offset schemes could influence their value in voluntary exchanges and potentially prime agricultural offsets for use in regulatory compliance markets, like California's cap-and-trade exchange, where the stakes are higher. All told, legislative provisions that will boost agricultural carbon markets do not police existing markets and transactions and would fan the flames of a speculative industry that stands to divert resources from effective pollution reduction and regulation.

Ultimately, carbon market evangelists claim they've found a win-win solution to allocate scarce resources towards the most cost-effective pollution reductions. In reality, voluntary carbon trading diverts resources into speculative offsets with no standard value that, on the whole, overpromise and under-deliver. Absent regulations, polluters can buy cheap cover to keep polluting while emissions may not decrease at all.

In reality, voluntary carbon trading diverts resources into speculative offsets with no standard value that, on the whole, overpromise and under-deliver.

Promoting voluntary carbon markets also lets private entities define what qualifies as "climate-smart" agriculture. As more dominant seed and agrichemical companies get into the business of paying farmers for carbon sequestration these harmful actors will devise carbon payment programs that put their profits above the public interest. The extensive surveillance and data collection required to verify carbon credits paired with long-term contracts also introduce new avenues for corporations to entrench power and corner markets.

## How Voluntary Carbon Payment Programs Entrench Big Ag

With so much interest and growth in carbon-offset credits, start-up and legacy businesses alike are finding different ways to get in on the green rush. In addition to carbon-credit certifiers and exchanges, brokers of all sorts are stepping in to help farmers turn their agricultural practices into sellable carbon offsets. Navigating carbon-offset measurement and certification can be incredibly complex and costly for farmers to take on independently. Most farmers generate carbon-offset credits with or on behalf of a third-party business, such as Indigo Aq, that estimates farmers' tons of carbon sequestration, works with a certifier to turn those estimates into sellable carbon offsets, and typically markets those credits for farmers as well.

High-profile carbon-farming start-ups, Indigo Ag and Nori, have garnered most of the media attention for recruiting and paying farmers to generate carbon offsets. But dominant agribusiness corporations such as Bayer, Corteva, Nutrien, Land o' Lakes, and Cargill have all launched different types of carbon payment programs, too. [See sidebars, pages 9-11, for more details on these programs.] These companies can leverage their large customer base and dominance in key agricultural markets to quickly gain a leading position in the new carbon-payment market (or pick winners and losers by partnering with start-ups, as Corteva has with Indigo).

Corporations say that they're launching these programs to do their part to fight climate change, but cornering the position between farmers and carbonoffset marketing holds significant benefits for their larger enterprise. Carbon-sequestration verification programs allow agribusinesses to collect more detailed agronomic data and drive new users to their digital agriculture platforms and products. New volumes of farm-level data also help corporations target farmers

#### **BAYER'S CARBON PROGRAM**

B A BAYER Bayer is one of the most influential agrichemical and seed companies in the world following its 2016 acquisition of Monsanto. As just one example, Bayer acquired Monsanto's patented genetically engineered traits found in more than 65% of all U.S. soybean seeds and 80% of all U.S. cotton seed.<sup>58</sup> In addition to selling seeds, seed traits, and agrichemicals, Bayer has made big investments in the nascent digital agriculture industry,<sup>59</sup> in part to acquire more information about farmers and levy greater influence over their management decisions. In Monsanto's 2013 annual report, the company pointed to a lack of farm-level data as holding back profits. 60 That same year, Monsanto announced its \$930 million acquisition of the Climate Corporation, one of the most advanced data analytics companies in agriculture.61 One of Climate Corporation's central products is Climate FieldView.

Climate FieldView is a digital agriculture platform that farmers use to acquire various digital agriculture software programs that can monitor and record climatic data, soil conditions, and management practices to make farming recommendations. Data are collected from farm equipment synced to the platform and from the information uploaded by farmers.<sup>62</sup> Over 180 million acres of farmland globally are enrolled in Climate FieldView, and Bayer's new carbon program could bring in even more.63

In 2020, Bayer launched a carbon market program through FieldView, now called ForGround.<sup>64</sup> Farmers in ForGround are paid for every acre on which they adopt a carbon sequestering practice, rather than per ton of carbon sequestered.<sup>65</sup> In the program's latest iteration, prices vary by state but generally farmers earn \$5-\$6 per acre annually for no-till or strip-till agriculture, and \$6 per acre per year for cover cropping. 66 In the program's pilot, farmers could also earn credits to buy Bayer products instead of cash. 67 As of 2023 farmers that enroll receive a free subscription to FieldView Plus. 68 Farmers sign contracts to adopt these practices, at Bayer's specifications, for 10 years with an additional 10-year retention period after the contract ends. 69 The program is currently available in 17 states.<sup>70</sup>

When Bayer promotes its program there is an unspoken assumption that the revenue to pay farmers for adopting these practices comes from Bayer's sale of the carbon credits that farmers generate. But at a House agriculture committee hearing in September, 2021 a Bayer representative, Leo Bastos, couldn't give a straight answer to this basic question about where the money to pay for its carbon program will come from. Rather than sell credits immediately, Bayer may choose to hold onto carbon credits to make corporate sustainability claims or sell them later if credit prices rise. This raises questions about whether farmers are receiving a fair value for their work to generate credits, since Bayer's payment plan is not directly tied to credit sales (Indigo, by comparison, pays farmers in a portion of their carbon credit sales). At the 2021 hearing, Bastos also stated that their contracts allow for farmers to receive a larger payout if carbon credit values rise. "As prices increase, we actually share more of that value back to the farmer," Bastos said. Nonetheless, this arrangement still gives Bayer the power to set payment prices to farmers, especially when there is scant price transparency or price discovery in carbon offset transactions to begin with.

with advertising or get an informational advantage in commodity trading. Carbon-credit contracts also lock farmers into a discrete set of agricultural practices, often dictated by the carbon-payment program, allowing seed and agrichemical corporations to define climate-smart farming and preference their products in the process.

# LETTING BIG AG DEFINE CARBON-SMART FARMING

Proponents of the voluntary, carbon-paymentand-credit-trading programs argue that pushing conventional farmers to adopt more environmentally sustainable practices is in the public interest, whether the directive comes from an agribusiness or a public body. However, the corporate entity is not designed to act in the public interest.<sup>39</sup> Unlike public officials, who are accountable to the public, corporations have a fiduciary duty to maximize shareholder profits.<sup>40</sup>

Studies show that agroecological management and agroforestry have far greater climate benefits than implementing isolated practices like cover-cropping or no-till agriculture on conventional, mono-crop farms. <sup>41</sup> Despite this, carbon-market platforms across the board prescribe isolated practices, predominantly reduced tillage, reduced nitrogen fertilizer use, cover-cropping, and in the case of livestock, installing methane digesters on industrial livestock operations.

One explanation for this approach is simplicity: requiring discrete practices is simpler than asking farmers to take a whole-ecosystem approach to agricultural management. These practices are also minimally disruptive to, and in many cases further, the industrial agricultural systems that are core to the business models of corporations such as Bayer and Cargill. Genetically engineered seed and agrichemical manufacturers have every incentive to recommend carbon-sequestering methods that push their product sales over more holistic agroecological management.

#### CARGILL'S CARBON PROGRAM



Cargill is the one of the largest private companies in the world, ranked second in the United States after Koch Industries. To Cargill trades commodities ranging from soy to steel and runs slaughterhouses around the world. Cargill rose to dominance, in part, by developing extensive information gathering and sharing systems for superior market intelligence and commodity trading. Today, Cargill says data analytics is still an essential part of how it does business, the corporation even makes revenue selling proprietary datasets and intelligence. Carbon payment programs present another way for Cargill to gather farm-level information and trade in carbon offsets as a new commodity.

Cargill's carbon program, called "RegenConnect" operates through a partnership with Regrow, a data analytics and soil modeling company. Farmers must have a Cargill customer number to participate. The Farmers upload four years of historical agronomic data to Regrow's FluroSense platform. Regrow: then agree to implement a practice prescribed by Regrow: cover cropping, reducing fertilizer use, or no-till. Farm-level data are uploaded throughout the program and supplemented by data collected through a satellite system.

Regrow calculates total carbon sequestration with a computer model called a DeNitrification- DeComposition Model (DNDC). The DNDC's algorithm simulates soil microbial processes to "digitally recreate the effects of farming practices on soil health." DNDC requires data on soil pH; soil carbon; bulk density; soil texture; cropping areas and rotations; daily weather; and management practices including fertilizer use, planting and harvest dates, tillage, and watering. The computer of the process of t

Regrow's platform also collects run-of-mill personal data on farmers, including site traffic data and credit card information. Regrow's privacy policy also includes a catch-all provision: Regrow can collect "Any other personal information that may be required in order to facilitate [a participant's] dealings with [Regrow]. "78 The privacy policy allows Regrow to acquire these data directly or through third parties. However, a representative from Regrow said that their privacy policy only allows for information collected from farmers to be used for improving their product and verifying carbon sequestration and other environmental outcomes. Regrow also said that they only share anonymized farmer data with Cargill that is pertinent to the RegenConnect partnership.

While Climate FieldView allows participants to remove data, 79 other platforms require that the data are permanently relinquished. Regrow's privacy policy grants the FluroSense platform "a royalty-free, worldwide, irrevocable and perpetual license to use, reproduce, copy, de-identify and categorize [participant's] Data."80

Cargill's program is currently available to farmers in fifteen states. <sup>81</sup> For the last two growing seasons Cargill offered one year contracts for generating carbon offsets, though Cargill's website suggests that they are looking for long-term partnerships. <sup>82</sup> For the 2022-2023 crop season, Cargill is offering farmers \$25 per ton of sequestered carbon per acre. <sup>83</sup> The company plans to use these carbon credits to meet internal corporate greenhouse gas reduction goals and sell them to "downstream customers," such as grain and beef buyers. <sup>84</sup>

For example, Bayer is a strong proponent of implementing no-till agriculture and using cover crops. These two practices form the foundation of its Carbon Initiative. Perhaps most concerning about this model from an environmental perspective is the heavy use of glyphosate, the main ingredient in Roundup,™ to make these practices work for industrial monocultures.<sup>42</sup>

While organic operations can deploy no-till and cover crops without relying on synthetic herbicides, conventional monoculture operations cannot. At a large scale, herbicides are the most efficient way to "knock down" cover crops when it's time to plant the cash crop, and companies like Bayer are happy to provide the necessary glyphosate-based herbicides.

Multiple studies have found that using glyphosate harms important fungi, earthworms, and other invertebrates that are essential to a healthy soil ecosystem.<sup>43</sup> Focusing entirely on practices like notill at industrial scales in order to generate carbon credits will not only increase sales of chemicals tied to biodiversity collapse and human health concerns, but it may also come at the cost of building healthy soils that can sequester carbon and provide a number of other ecosystem benefits in the long term.<sup>44</sup>

These types of carbon payments also further marginalize truly sustainable farms. Gearing carbonpayment programs towards larger, monoculture, and chemical-intensive farms give them another revenue stream and advantage over smaller and diversified farms with proven environmental benefits. As currently designed, carbon payments act as another low-value commodity for which economies of scale are necessary to capture the benefits. Only farms operating hundreds or thousands of acres can generate enough credits to offset the current costs of implementation and verification.<sup>45</sup> For example, in 2020, the <u>average farm</u> selling carbon credits to Indigo operated 1,300 acres and grew commodity grains or cotton.<sup>46</sup>

#### CORTEVA'S CARBON INITIATIVE & CORTEVA WITH INDIGO AG



Corteva is the seeds and agrichemical spinoff indigo of DowDupont, a chemical conglomerate that split itself into three corporations in 2019. Corteva competes with Bayer as one of the two largest crop input corporations globally. Corteva also operates a digital agriculture platform called Granular Insights. In August 2021 Corteva announced an expansion of its Carbon Initiative program including a partnership with Indigo Ag, a leading carbon trading start up.

Indigo is a growing corporation that began selling microbial seed treatments and branched out into digital agriculture products and data-driven grain marketing. The corporation now runs one of the top platforms for measuring agricultural carbon sequestration and marketing carbon offsets to corporate buyers.

Just as Cargill partners with ReGrow to measure and verify carbon sequestration, Corteva partners with Indigo. One key difference is that Corteva collects farmers' carbon quantifying information through the corporation's Granular Insights platform, which then shares the data with Indigo for certification and credit generation. Indigo quantifies tons of sequestered carbon using a combination of modeling, based on farmerprovided data, and select soil sampling. Indigo will then sell these credits through their "buyer network." More than a dozen corporations including The North Face, Barclays, Shopify, and Fat Tire brewing have signed up to purchase Indigo's agricultural

Corteva guarantees farmers that generate credits for Indigo through Granular Insights a minimum of \$20 per credit or 75% of their carbon credits' sales value.85 Corteva projects that credits will sell for \$30 per credit in the 2022 crop year and \$60 per credit by 2030.86 Participating farmers sign a five-year contract and share three to five years of historical farm data to enroll.87 The program is available in 28 states.

### **COMPOUNDING MONOPOLY POWER** THROUGH DATA ACQUISITION AND BUNDLING

As agriculture becomes increasingly mechanized and technology-dependent, the tools that digitally collect, store, and analyze farm data are an integral aspect of large-scale agriculture.<sup>47</sup> Leading agribusinesses, especially seed and chemical manufacturers, are clamoring to develop a dominant digital platform through which farmers access agriculture software and data-driven farm management insights.

Capturing large volumes of farm-level data has become an increasingly important competitive advantage in this arena. Once captured and analyzed, data can bring tailored agronomic insights to every level of decision-making on the farm. These insights run on machine learning, whose predictions improve with larger and more diverse datasets. Because verifying carbon sequestration requires copious amounts of detailed information from farmers, carbon-payment programs introduce a new way for dominant corporations to expand their data advantage and draw new users onto their digital agriculture platforms. As Bayer, Corteva, and Cargill expand their data advantage by collecting more information on more farm acres through carbon-offset programs, their market dominance will only deepen.

When seed and chemical companies control the software that advises farmers on planting decisions, they also have new opportunities to engage in predatory business practices. In a 2017 letter, the American Antitrust Institute and Food & Water Watch warned that the Bayer-Monsanto merger would allow the newly formed company to combine not just their seed and chemical products, but digital agriculture products and farmer data sets. They said the merger would allow the company to "leverage[] critical information... to bundle traits, seeds and chemicals into exclusive, proprietary packages,"49 much as these corporations have already done with patented herbicide and herbicide-resistant seed pairs. For instance, an early version of Monsanto's digital agriculture platform, FieldScripts, only offered Monsanto brand seeds on the platform.<sup>50</sup> Today, Bayer offers a free year of premium Climate FieldView when bundled with its seeds and chemical through a rewards program, "Bayer PLUS Rewards."51 Carbon program participants receive premium FieldView for free.<sup>52</sup>

Bayer has found that FieldView users buy more Bayer products. According to a 2022 presentation, Bayer generated more than 5% higher sales from its corn seed customers who had FieldView Plus compared to non-FieldView Plus users. Bayer also found that FieldView users planted Bayer corn seeds at a 2.5% higher seeding rate than the national average.<sup>53</sup>

These advantages shut out seed and agrichemical competitors and keep farmers using a narrow set of expensive products.

These advantages shut out seed and agrichemical competitors and keep farmers using a narrow set of expensive products.

### LONG-TERM CONTRACTS LIMIT FARMER AUTONOMY AND TIE THEM TO A NEW, VOLATILE "COMMODITY"

Just one year of tilling can release much of the carbon stored in soil. Due to these concerns around soil carbon permanence, many carbon-payment programs require that farmers make a long-term commitment to change their practices. But such agreements introduce considerable power imbalances, especially when made with monopolistic corporations. Farmers agree to adopt new fixed costs for five or 10 years at a time when the promised benefit of a carbon payment is wildly uncertain. For example, the contracts in Bayer's Carbon Program last for 10 years, plus an additional 10-year "retention period" during which farmers must maintain their new practices to ensure long-term carbon sequestration.<sup>54</sup> This effectively commits farmers to 20 years of new fixed costs (which can be as much as \$35 per acre in the case of cover crop) but only 10 years of guaranteed pay<sup>31</sup> Although Bayer claims that farmers can leave the contracts at any time "with no penalty," their exact terms of termination are not public and they emphasize that farmers cannot remove a portion of their fields and add them back in.55

While most analysts predict that the value of agriculture carbon offsets will increase, some remember the promise and crash of the Chicago Climate Exchange, through which some farmers signed five-year carbon credit contracts only for the price of carbon to drop from \$7 per ton to 3¢ per ton. Farmers narrowly avoided years of money-losing contracts because the Exchange

itself evaporated. While Bayer, Cargill, and Corteva all offer minimum price payments, there's no telling how terms could change should prices collapse.

As previously discussed, a major issue with valuing carbon credits is the lack of standardization and credibility. Even though carbon-measurement technology has somewhat improved since 2012, standardization and credit trustworthiness have not. Carbon offsets are still incredibly volatile with questionable underlying value and little in the way of transparent price discovery. Credit values vary dramatically depending on their perceived credibility. Financial instruments based on commodities with potentially no value nor true price discovery introduce systemic financial risks that only benefit financial speculators.<sup>56</sup>

Carbon offsets are still incredibly volatile with questionable underlying value and little in the way of transparent price discovery.

### **Conclusion & Recommendations**

Far from mitigating the climate emergency, carbon-offset schemes threaten to further entrench environmentally destructive farm practices and chemical use, worsen social and racial equity issues, foster corporate self-dealing and monopoly, and threaten to exacerbate the economic marginalization of small to medium-scale farmers – all while forestalling meaningful reform by enabling corporate "greenwashing." Fortunately, there are many other ways that Congress and the Administration could reduce agriculture's carbon footprint and promote adoption of ecologically regenerative farming methods, even voluntarily.

#### CONGRESS AND THE ADMINISTRATION SHOULD:

- Ensure that USDA programs do not promote private carbon payment programs and reject corporate
  contributions to conservation programs that require farmers to share ownership of carbon credits
  with corporate donors.
- Invest in popular existing programs to fund environmental improvements in agriculture, such as the
  Environmental Quality Incentives Program (EQIP) and the Conservation Stewardship Program (CSP).
  A study by the Institute for Agriculture and Trade Policy found that USDA denied more than half of
  all EQIP and CSP applications, in part due to lack of funds. Funding should be greatly expanded,
  with resources set aside to promote proven carbon-sequestering practices, primarily agroforestry.

- Close these programs' existing loopholes, which allow large polluting farms, especially animal factory farms, to win large grants to subsidize the environmental cleanup necessitated by their inherently polluting business model.
- Support farmers who transition to ecologically regenerative practices, such as those encompassed
  within organic agriculture, that enhance soil health, protect biodiversity, and help make our food
  system more resilient to climate change.
- Promote agroforestry through existing USDA programs, such as encouraging tree plantings as a
  part of the Conservation Reserve Program (CRP) or expanding farm safety net programs, such as
  crop insurance, to better include agroforestry.
- Improve federal food procurement to invest in genuinely climate-smart farms and community-based food systems and disinvest from environmentally harmful businesses.
- Regulate air and water pollution from the largest, most polluting farms, including working with the EPA to set limits on agricultural greenhouse gas emissions.
- Hold dominant agribusinesses liable for the environmental violations of the farms they contract with, given their control over farmers' practices.
- Better enforce existing antitrust laws to combat the monopoly power of the largest agribusinesses.
- Protect farmer data:
  - Ensure data portability for farmers to easily transfer their information between platforms.
  - Allow farmers to remove their data from a platform, so that corporations cannot continue to profit off their information after a farmer has stopped using their service.
  - Prohibit the use of farmer data gathered to verify carbon sequestration or provide planting recommendations to be used to speculate in futures markets.
  - Ensure corporations obtain a farmer's explicit consent before sharing or selling their data to third parties.

### **Endnotes**

- <sup>1</sup> Disha Shetty, "A Fifth of World's Largest Companies Committed to Net Zero Targets," *Forbes*, March 24, 2021, <a href="https://www.forbes.com/sites/dishashetty/2021/03/24/a-fifth-of-worlds-largest-companies-committed-to-net-zero-target/?sh=7efd6494662f">https://www.forbes.com/sites/dishashetty/2021/03/24/a-fifth-of-worlds-largest-companies-committed-to-net-zero-target/?sh=7efd6494662f</a>.
- <sup>2</sup> "Partnerships for Climate-Smart Commodities Project Summaries", *United States Department of Agriculture*, <a href="https://www.usda.gov/climate-solutions/climate-smart-commodities/projects.">https://www.usda.gov/climate-smart Commodities/projects.</a> (\$95 million to the National Fish and Wildlife Foundation's "Farmers for Soil Health Climate-Smart Commodities Partnership," \$95 million to Iowa Soybean Association's "Midwest Climate-Smart Commodity Program," \$90 million to Truterra's "Climate SMART (Scaling Mechanisms for Agriculture's Regenerative Transformation)," \$90 million to Archer Daniels Midland's "ADM and Partners' Climate-Smart Solutions," \$70 million for Field to Market's "The Climate-Smart Agriculture Innovative Finance Initiative," \$60 million to Tyson Food's "Tyson Foods, Inc. Climate-Smart Commodities Project," and \$45 to Blue Diamond's "Unlocking the Benefits of Regenerative Almonds: Partnerships to Develop and Expand Global Climate-Smart Market Opportunities through Grower Incentives.")
- <sup>3</sup> Lisa Song and James Temple, "The Climate Solution Actually Adding Millions of Tons of CO2 to the Atmosphere," ProPublica, April 29, 2021, https://www.propublica.org/article/the-climate-solution-actually-adding-millions-of-tons-of-co2-into-the-atmosphere
- <sup>4</sup> Todd Whitney, "Building Soil Organic Matter Takes Time," *University of Nebraska-Lincoln Institute of Agriculture and Water*, <a href="https://water.unl.edu/article/animal-manure-management/building-soil-organic-matter-takes-time">https://water.unl.edu/article/animal-manure-management/building-soil-organic-matter-takes-time</a>; Todd A. Antl and Lisa A. Schulte, "Soil Carbon Storage," *The Nature Education Knowledge Project*, 2012, <a href="https://www.nature.com/scitable/knowledge/library/soil-carbon-storage-84223790/">https://www.nature.com/scitable/knowledge/library/soil-carbon-storage-84223790/</a>.
- <sup>5</sup> Daniel Kane, "Carbon Sequestration Potential on Agricultural Lands: A Review of Current Science and Available Practices," *National Sustainable Agriculture Coalition*, November 2015, https://sustainableagriculture.net/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/Soil\_C\_review\_Kane\_Dec\_4-final-v4.pdf.
- <sup>6</sup> "An Overview: Glyphosate," Bayer, https://www.bayer.com/sites/default/files/Glyphosate\_Agyocate\_FactSheet.pdf.
- <sup>7</sup> Song and Temple, Propublica; Lorenzo Cotula, Sonja Vermeulen, Rebeca Leonard, James Keeley, "Land grab or development opportunity? Agricultural investment and international land deals in Africa," International Institute for Environment and Development, (2009) <a href="https://pubs.iied.org/12561iied">https://pubs.iied.org/12561iied</a>
- 8 "The Clean Development Mechanism: Local Impacts of a Global System," *Carbon Market Watch*, October 29, 2018, <a href="https://carbonmarketwatch.org/publications/the-clean-development-mechanism-local-impacts-of-a-global-system/">https://carbonmarketwatch.org/publications/the-clean-development-mechanism-local-impacts-of-a-global-system/</a>; Lara J. Cushing, Madeline Wander, Rachel Morello-Frosch, Manuel Pastor, Allen Zhu, and James Sadd, "A Preliminary Environmental Equity Assessment Of California's Cap-and-Trade Program," *USC Dornsife Program for Environmental and Regional Equity*, September 14, 2016, <a href="https://dornsife.usc.edu/assets/sites/242/docs/Climate\_Equity\_Brief\_CA\_Cap\_and\_Trade\_Sept2016\_FINAL2.pdf">https://dornsife.usc.edu/assets/sites/242/docs/Climate\_Equity\_Brief\_CA\_Cap\_and\_Trade\_Sept2016\_FINAL2.pdf</a>
- <sup>9</sup> "Climate Change 2022," Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2022, https://report.ipcc.ch/ar6/wg3/IPCC\_AR6\_WGIII\_Full\_Report.pdf
- "Land and Natural Resources," U.S. Department of Agriculture Economic Research Services, June 10, 2022, https://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/ag-and-food-statistics-charting-the-essentials/land-and-natural-resources/?topicId=a7a658d4-f209-4641-9172-066ca0896abe
- <sup>11</sup> Renee Cho, "Can Soil Help Combat Climate Change?" Sate of the Planet, February 21, 2018, https://news.climate.columbia.edu/2018/02/21/can-soil-help-combat-climate-change/
- <sup>12</sup> Jocelyn Lavallee and Francesca Cotrufo, "Soil Carbon is a Valuable Resource, But All Carbon is Not Created Equal," EcoPress, <a href="https://www.nrel.colostate.edu/soil-carbon-is-a-valuable-resource-but-all-soil-carbon-is-not-created-equal/">https://www.nrel.colostate.edu/soil-carbon-is-a-valuable-resource-but-all-soil-carbon-is-not-created-equal/</a>
- <sup>13</sup> Klein, Kendra, "Pesticides and Soil Health," Friends of the Earth, 2019. <a href="https://lbps6437gg8c169i0y1drtgz-wpengine.netdna-ssl.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/PecticidesSoilHealth\_Final-1.pdf">https://lbps6437gg8c169i0y1drtgz-wpengine.netdna-ssl.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/PecticidesSoilHealth\_Final-1.pdf</a>
- <sup>14</sup> Tari Gunstone, Tara Cornelisse, Kendra Klein, Aditi Dubey and Nathan Donley, "Pesticides and Soil Invertebrates: A Hazard Assessment," frontiers, May 4, 2021, <a href="https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fenvs.2021.643847/full">https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fenvs.2021.643847/full</a>
- <sup>15</sup> Elham A. Ghabbour et. al., "Chapter One National comparison of the Total and Seuqestered Organic Matter Contents of Conventional and Organic Farm Soils," *ScienceDirect*, 2017, <a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0065211317300676">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0065211317300676</a>
- <sup>16</sup> Nicole Tautges, Jessica Chiartas, Amelie Gaudin and Anthony T O'Green, "Deep soil inventories reveal that impacts of cover crops and compost on soil carbon sequestration differ in surface and sub-surface soils," ResearchGate, July 2019, <a href="https://www.researchgate.net/">https://www.researchgate.net/</a> publication/334452070\_Deep\_soil\_inventories\_reveal\_that\_impacts\_of\_cover\_crops\_and\_compost\_on\_soil\_carbon\_sequestration\_differ\_in\_surface\_and\_sub-surface\_soils
- <sup>17</sup> Ranjith P. Udawatta and Shibu Jose, "Agroforestry strategies to sequester carbon in temperate North America," *Agroforestry Systems*, September 14 2022, https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10457-012-9561-1
- <sup>18</sup> Lingxi Chenyang, Andrew Currie, Hannah Darrin, Nathan Rosenberg, "Farming with Trees: Reforming U.S. Farm Policy to Expand Agroforestry and Mitigate Climate Change," Ecology Law Quarterly, Vol. 48, No.1, September 9, 2021, <a href="https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=3717877">https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=3717877</a>.

- <sup>19</sup> "Greenhouse Gas Emissions from a Typical Passenger Vehicle," *United States Environmental Protection Agency*, <a href="https://www.epa.gov/greenvehicles/greenhouse-gas-emissions-typical-passenger-vehicle">https://www.epa.gov/greenvehicles/greenhouse-gas-emissions-typical-passenger-vehicle</a>
- Fisher, Madeline. 2014. No-till soil organic carbon sequestration rates questioned. Soil Science Society of America. May 5. Available online. <a href="https://www.soils.org/discover-soils/story/researchers-question-published-no-till-soil-organic-carbon-sequestration-rates">https://www.soils.org/discover-soils/story/researchers-question-published-no-till-soil-organic-carbon-sequestration-rates</a>; Luo, Z., Wang, E. and Sun, O.J., 2010. Can no-tillage stimulate carbon sequestration in agricultural soils? A meta-analysis of paired experiments. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 139(1-2), pp.224-231.; Corbeels, M., Marchão, R.L., Neto, M.S., Ferreira, E.G., Madari, B.E., Scopel, E. and Brito, O.R., 2016. Evidence of limited carbon sequestration in soils under no-tillage systems in the Cerrado of Brazil. Scientific reports, 6, p.21450.; University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, "Researchers question published no-till soil organic carbon sequestration rates," Phys.org, April 18, 2014, <a href="https://phys.org/news/2014-04-published-no-till-soil-carbon-sequestration.html">https://phys.org/news/2014-04-published-no-till-soil-carbon-sequestration.html</a>
- <sup>21</sup> Roger, Margaret and D. Stephens. New Initiative Investigates Non-wetting Solutions. *Ground Cover*, 118. Grains, Research and Development Corporation. Australian Government. Available online. <a href="https://grdc.com.au/resources-and-publications/ground-cover/ground-cover-supplements/ground-cover-issue-118-soil-constraints/new-initiative-investigates-non-wetting-solutions">https://grdc.com.au/resources-and-publications/ground-cover-ground-cover-supplements/ground-cover-issue-118-soil-constraints/new-initiative-investigates-non-wetting-solutions</a>; Bib Belford et. al., "Soil Constraints West: a GRDC initiate to develop soil management systems for the future," *Grains Research and Development Corporation*, <a href="https://grdc.com.au/resources-and-publications/grdc-update-papers/tab-content/grdc-update-papers/2015/02/soil-constraints-west">https://grdc.com.au/resources-and-publications/grdc-update-papers/tab-content/grdc-update-papers/2015/02/soil-constraints-west</a>
- <sup>22</sup> Zhongkui Luo, Enli Wang and Osbert J. Sun, "Can no-tillage stimulate carbon sequestration in agricultural soils? A meta-analysis of paired experiments," *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, Volume 139, Issues 1-2, October 15 2010, <a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0167880910002094">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0167880910002094</a>
- Nathanael M. Thompson et. al., "Opportunities and Challenges Associated with Carbon farming for U.S. Row-Crop Producers," Purdue University Center for Commercial Agriculture, June 28, 2021, <a href="https://ag.purdue.edu/commercialag/home/resource/2021/06/opportunities-and-challenges-associated-with-carbon-farming-for-u-s-row-crop-producers/">https://ag.purdue.edu/commercialag/home/resource/2021/06/opportunities-and-challenges-associated-with-carbon-farming-for-u-s-row-crop-producers/</a>; Yawen Huang et. al., "Assessing synergistic effects of no-tillage and cover crops on soil carbon dynamics in a long-term maize cropping system under climate change," Agricultural and Forest Meterology, Volume 291, September 15 2020, <a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0168192320301921">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0168192320301921</a>; Julie McDowell, Sabrina Ruis, and Humberto Blanco, "Cover Crops and Carbon Sequestration: Benefits to the Producer and the Planet," University of Nebraska-Lincoln Cropwatch, March 11, 2019 <a href="https://cropwatch.unl.edu/2019/cover-crops-and-carbon-sequestration-benefits-producer-and-planet">https://cropwatch.unl.edu/2019/cover-crops-and-carbon-sequestration-benefits-producer-and-planet</a>
- <sup>24</sup> Gabriel Popkin, "A Soil-Science Revolution Upends Plans to Fight Climate Change," Quanta Magazine, July 27, 2021, <a href="https://www.quantamagazine.org/a-soil-science-revolution-upends-plans-to-fight-climate-change-20210727/">https://www.quantamagazine.org/a-soil-science-revolution-upends-plans-to-fight-climate-change-20210727/</a>
- <sup>25</sup> Christopher J. Hein, Muhammed Usman, Timothy I. Elginton, Negar Haghipour and Valier V. Galy, "Millennial-scale hydroclimate climate control of tropical soil carbon storage," *Nature 581*(7806), May 6 2020, <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32376961/">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32376961/</a>; Jerry Melillo and Elizabeth Gribko, "Soil-Based Carbon Sequestration," *MIT Climate Portal*, <a href="https://climate.mit.edu/explainers/soil-based-carbon-sequestration">https://climate.mit.edu/explainers/soil-based-carbon-sequestration</a>
- <sup>26</sup> Nathanael M. Thompson et. al., "Opportunities and Challenges Associated with Carbon farming for U.S. Row-Crop Producers," *Purdue University Center for Commercial Agriculture*, June 28, 2021, <a href="https://ag.purdue.edu/commercialag/home/resource/2021/06/opportunities-and-challenges-associated-with-carbon-farming-for-u-s-row-crop-producers/">https://ag.purdue.edu/commercialag/home/resource/2021/06/opportunities-and-challenges-associated-with-carbon-farming-for-u-s-row-crop-producers/</a>
- <sup>27</sup> Kara Hoving, "Changing the conversation around soil carbon," Yale Environment Review, January 4, 2021, <a href="https://environment-review.yale.edu/changing-conversation-around-soil-carbon">https://environment-review.yale.edu/changing-conversation-around-soil-carbon</a>
- <sup>28</sup> Ibid.
- <sup>29</sup> Keith Paustian, Sarah Collier, Jeff Baldock, Rachel Burgess, Jeff Creque and Marcia DeLonge, "Quantifying carbo nfor agricultural soil management: from the current status towards a global soil information system," Carbon Management, Volume 10, 2019, <a href="https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17583004.2019.1633231">https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17583004.2019.1633231</a>
- <sup>30</sup> Cole D. Gross and Robert B. Harrison, "Quantifying and Comparing Soil Carbon Stocks: Underestimation with the Core Sampling Method," Soil Science Society of America Journal, August 2, 2018 <a href="https://acsess.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.2136/sssaj2018.01.0015">https://acsess.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.2136/sssaj2018.01.0015</a>
- <sup>31</sup> Ibid.
- <sup>32</sup> Nathanial Johnson and Ysabelle Kempe, "The U.S. is About to Go All In on Paying Farmers and Foresters to Trap Carbon, *Rolling Stone*, July 8, 2021, <a href="https://www.rollingstone.com/politics/politics-features/the-u-s-is-about-to-go-all-in-on-paying-farmers-and-foresters-to-trap-carbon-1194250/">https://www.rollingstone.com/politics/politics-features/the-u-s-is-about-to-go-all-in-on-paying-farmers-and-foresters-to-trap-carbon-1194250/</a>
- 33 "Reforming the voluntary carbon market," *Compensate*, 2021, <a href="https://downloads.ctfassets.net/">https://downloads.ctfassets.net/</a>
  f6kng81cu8b8/5vgGIHhsrTAbMnqaDYNGYJ/25a7d0e148a6d15cd10e2409107d7f3d/Reforming\_the\_voluntary\_carbon\_market\_-\_Compensate.pdf
- <sup>34</sup> Nicholas Kusnetz, "Carbon Credits Likely Worthless in Reducing Emissions, Study Says," *Inside Climate* News, April 19, 2017, <a href="https://insideclimatenews.org/news/19042017/cabon-emissions-credits-paris-climate-agreement/">https://insideclimatenews.org/news/19042017/cabon-emissions-credits-paris-climate-agreement/</a>
- 35 Song and Temple, ProPublica
- <sup>36</sup> Heather McKenzie, "Carbon Offsets: Taming the Wild West," *ESG Investor*, June 2, 2021, <a href="https://www.esginvestor.net/carbon-offsets-taming-the-wild-west/">https://www.esginvestor.net/carbon-offsets-taming-the-wild-west/</a> atmosphere

- <sup>37</sup> Environmental Defense Fund and Woodwell Climate Research Center, "Agricultural Soil Carbon Credits: Making sense of protocols for carbon sequestration and net greenhouse gas removals," Environmental Defense Fund, <a href="https://www.edf.org/sites/default/files/content/agricultural-soil-carbon-credits-protocol-synthesis.pdf">https://www.edf.org/sites/default/files/content/agricultural-soil-carbon-credits-protocol-synthesis.pdf</a>
- <sup>38</sup> Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2023, Pub. L. 117–328 (2022), <a href="https://www.appropriations.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/JRQ121922.PDF">https://www.appropriations.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/JRQ121922.PDF</a>
- 39 Thomas P. Byrne, "False Profits: Reviving the Corporation's Public Purpose," UCLA Law Review, March 25, 2010, <a href="https://www.uclalawreview.org/false-profits-reviving-the-corporations-public-purpose/">https://www.uclalawreview.org/false-profits-reviving-the-corporations-public-purpose/</a>
- <sup>40</sup> Kristina Karlsson and Lenore Palladino, "Towards Accountable Capitalism: Remaking Corporate Law through Stakeholder Governance," The Harvard Law School Forum on Corporate Governance, February 11, 2019, <a href="https://corpgov.law.harvard.edu/2019/02/11/towards-accountable-capitalism-remaking-corporate-law-through-stakeholder-governance/">https://corpgov.law.harvard.edu/2019/02/11/towards-accountable-capitalism-remaking-corporate-law-through-stakeholder-governance/</a>.
- <sup>41</sup> Lingxi Chenyang, Andrew Currie, Hannah Darrin, et al., "Farming with Trees: Reforming U.S. Farm Policy to Expand Agroforestry and Mitigate Climate Change," Ecology Law Quarterly 48, no.1, (September 2021).
- <sup>42</sup> "Glyphosate's Role in Preserving the Environment and Biodiversity," Bayer, accessed December 14, 2022, <a href="https://www.bayer.com/en/glyphosate/glyphosate-environment-biodiversity#practices">https://www.bayer.com/en/glyphosate/glyphosate-environment-biodiversity#practices</a>.
- <sup>43</sup> https://1bps6437gg8c169i0y1drtgz-wpengine.netdna-ssl.com/wp-content/uploadir s/2019/08/PecticidesSoilHealth\_Final-1.pdf
- 44 https://allianceforscience.cornell.edu/blog/2020/08/monarch-butterfly-population-decline-glyphosate-milkweed/; Dennis D.Weisenburger, "A Review and Update with Perspective of Evidence that the Herbicide Glyphosate (Roundup) is a Cause of Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma," Science Direct 21, no.9, (September 2021): 621-630.
- <sup>45</sup> Gosia Wozniacka, "Are Carbon Markets for Farmers Worth the Hype?" *Civil Eats*, September 24, 2020. <a href="https://civileats.com/2020/09/24/are-carbon-markets-for-farmers-worth-the-hype/">https://civileats.com/2020/09/24/are-carbon-markets-for-farmers-worth-the-hype/</a>
- 46 Ibid.
- <sup>47</sup> Michael E. Sykuta, "Big Data in Agriculture: Property Rights, Privacy and Competition in Ag Data Services," *International Food and Agribusiness Management Review* 19, no. A, (2016): 57-74.
- <sup>48</sup> Ibid.
- <sup>49</sup> American Antitrust Institute, Food and Water Watch, National Farmers Union to Makan Delrahim, October 3, 2017, Monsanto-Bayer Merger: Competitive Concerns Surrounding Traits-Seeds-Chemicals Platforms, Digital Farming, and Farm Data, <a href="https://www.antitrustinstitute.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/AAI-FWW-NFU\_MON-BAY-addendum.pdf">https://www.antitrustinstitute.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/AAI-FWW-NFU\_MON-BAY-addendum.pdf</a>.
- <sup>50</sup> Gil Gullickson, "Monsanto Launches New Prescription Planting Product," *Successful Farming*, August 28, 2012. <a href="https://www.agriculture.com/crops/corn/monsto-launches-new-prescription-plting">https://www.agriculture.com/crops/corn/monsto-launches-new-prescription-plting</a> 136-ar26106
- <sup>51</sup> "How it Works," Crop Science, Bayer, accessed December 14, 2022, <a href="https://www.cropscience.bayer.us/rewards-and-programs/bayer-plus-programs/bayer-plus-rewards#phcontent\_6\_divAccordion">https://www.cropscience.bayer.us/rewards-and-programs/bayer-plus-programs/bayer-plus-rewards#phcontent\_6\_divAccordion</a>
- <sup>52</sup> "Benefits," ForGround, Bayer, accessed January 30th, 2023, <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20230130205719/https://bayerforground.com/farmers/benefits">https://web.archive.org/web/20230130205719/https://bayerforground.com/farmers/benefits</a>
- <sup>53</sup> Rodrigo Santos, Bob Reiter, Jeremy Williams, *Advancing Tomorrow's Innovations Today*, (Leverkusen: Crop Science Annual R&D Pipeline Update, 2022). https://www.bayer.com/sites/default/files/2022-02/Crop%20Science%20R&D%20Pipeline%20Update%20Webinar\_2022-02-16\_Presentation.pdf
- <sup>54</sup> "FAQs," Bayer Carbon Program, Bayer, accessed December 14, 2022, https://www.bayer.com/sites/default/files/BayerCarbon\_FAQ.pdf.
- 55 Ibid.
- "Comments to the Commodity Futures Trading Commission on the proposed creation of a carbon markets subcommittee of the Energy and Environmental Markets Advisory Committee," The FineReg Blog, September 23, 2021, <a href="https://sites.law.duke.edu/thefinregblog/2021/09/23/comments-to-the-commodity-futures-trading-commission-on-the-proposed-creation-of-a-carbon-markets-subcommittee-of-the-energy-and-environmental-markets-advisory-committee/.</a>
- <sup>57</sup> <u>Lingxi Chenyang</u>, <u>Andrew Currie</u>, <u>Hannah Darrin</u>, et al.
- <sup>58</sup> United States v. Bayer Ag and Monsanto Company, 2018 U.S. District Court, (2018).
- <sup>59</sup> Pat Mooney, *Blocking the Chain*, (Berlin: ETC Group, 2018). <a href="https://www.etcgroup.org/sites/www.etcgroup.org/files/files/blockingthechain\_english\_web.pdf">https://www.etcgroup.org/sites/www.etcgroup.org/sites/www.etcgroup.org/files/files/blockingthechain\_english\_web.pdf</a>; "Smart Solutions for a Sustainable Future," Digital Farming, Bayer, accessed December 14, 2018, <a href="https://www.bayer.com/en/agriculture/digital-farming">https://www.bayer.com/en/agriculture/digital-farming</a>.
- <sup>60</sup>Tim McDonnell, "Monsanto Is Using Big Data to Take Over the World," *Mother Jones*, November 19, 2014, <a href="https://www.motherjones.com/environment/2014/11/monsanto-big-data-gmo-climate-change/">https://www.motherjones.com/environment/2014/11/monsanto-big-data-gmo-climate-change/</a>.

- <sup>61</sup> Pat Mooney, Blocking the Chain. https://www.etcgroup.org/sites/www.etcgroup.org/files/files/blockingthechain\_english\_web.pdf
- <sup>62</sup> Climate FieldView's privacy policy as of 2020 grants Bayer access to all categories of personal data as defined by California's Civil Code, including a participant's social security number; education; employment history; any financial information; and medical information. Bayer's privacy statement also says that the corporation collects extensive biometric data on participants, including images of participant's iris and retina, fingerprints, vein patterns; voice recordings; sleep patterns; keystroke patterns; gait patterns or rhythms; and exercise patterns. With the personal and biometric data, Bayer builds a profile of the participant's "preferences, characteristics, psychological trends, predispositions, behavior, attitudes, intelligence, abilities, and aptitudes."; "Privacy Statement," Climate FieldView, last updated August 30, 2022, <a href="https://www.climatefieldview.ca/legal/privacy-statement/">https://www.climatefieldview.ca/legal/privacy-statement/</a>.
- <sup>63</sup> Rodrigo Santos, Bob Reiter, Jeremy Williams, Advancing Tomorrow's Innovations Today.
- <sup>64</sup> Karl Plume, "Bayer launches carbon capture program for U.S. and Brazil farmers," *Reuters*, July 21, 2020, <a href="https://www.reuters.com/article/us-bayer-farming-climate-change/bayer-launches-carbon-capture-program-for-u-s-and-brazil-farmers-idUSKCN24M2CE">https://www.reuters.com/article/us-bayer-farming-climate-change/bayer-launches-carbon-capture-program-for-u-s-and-brazil-farmers-idUSKCN24M2CE</a>.
- <sup>65</sup> "Earn Rewards for the Way You Farm," U.S. Carbon Program, Bayer, accessed December 14, 2022, <a href="https://www.bayer.com/en/agriculture/carbon-program-united-states">https://www.bayer.com/en/agriculture/carbon-program-united-states</a>.
- <sup>66</sup> "Incentives for Farmers: Get Paid for Practice Changes." ForGround, Bayer, accessed January 30th, 2023, <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20230130204856/https://bayerforground.com/farmers/carbon-initiative">https://web.archive.org/web/20230130204856/https://bayerforground.com/farmers/carbon-initiative</a>
- <sup>67</sup> Karl Plume, "Bayer launches carbon capture program."
- <sup>68</sup> Benefits," ForGround, Bayer, accessed January 30<sup>th</sup>, 2023, <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20230130205719/https://bayerforground.com/farmers/benefits">https://web.archive.org/web/20230130205719/https://bayerforground.com/farmers/benefits</a>
- <sup>69</sup> "A New Revenue Stream for Farmers," Bayer Carbon Program, Bayer, accessed December 14, 2022, <a href="https://www.bayer.com/en/us/bayer-carbon-program-a-new-revenue-stream-for-farmers">https://www.bayer.com/en/us/bayer-carbon-program-a-new-revenue-stream-for-farmers</a>.
- <sup>70</sup> IN, IL, IA, KS, WI, ND, SD, NE, MN, MO, MI, OH, AR, MS, LA, MD, and DE, *Id*.
- <sup>71</sup> Kristen Leigh Painter, "Cargill loses title of America's largest private company" Star Tribute Minneapolis, November 25 2020, <a href="https://www.msn.com/en-us/money/companies/cargill-loses-title-of-america-s-largest-private-company/ar-BB1bmOEb">https://www.msn.com/en-us/money/companies/cargill-loses-title-of-america-s-largest-private-company/ar-BB1bmOEb</a>
- <sup>72</sup> In 2002, Forbes reported that "three decades before most people began using e-mail, Cargill used a telex-based system so that the lowliest trainee could zip sensitive weather, crop or cargo information to senior officers in seconds."
- 73 "Cargill RegenConnect™," Cargill, https://www.cargillag.com/grow-with-cargill/RegenConnect
- 74 "FluroSense as a Monitoring, Reporting, and Verification (MRV) Platform," Regrow. <a href="https://www.cargillag.com/content/dam/cargillag/pdfs/MRV\_Landscape.pdf">https://www.cargillag.com/content/dam/cargillag/pdfs/MRV\_Landscape.pdf</a>
- 75 "DNDC Biogeochemical Model," Regrow. https://www.cargillag.com/content/dam/cargillag/pdfs/DNDC\_Graphic.pdf
- <sup>76</sup> "The Denitrification-Decomposition (DNDC) Model," Conservation Technology Information Center, https://ctic.org/DNDC\_Information
- <sup>77</sup> "Privacy Policy," Regrow, https://web.archive.org/web/20220811215211/https://www.regrow.ag/privacy-policy
- <sup>78</sup> "Privacy Policy," Regrow,
- <sup>79</sup> "Privacy Statement," Climate Field View, July 15<sup>th</sup> 2022, https://climate.com/us-privacy-statement/#howlongwekeepdata.
- 80 "Privacy Policy," Regrow,
- <sup>81</sup> "Cargill RegenConnect™ expands program eligibility to 15 states for 2022-23 crop season," Cargill, May 10<sup>th</sup>, 2022, <a href="https://www.cargill.com/2022/cargill-regenconnecttm-expands-program-eligibility-to-15-states">https://www.cargill.com/2022/cargill-regenconnecttm-expands-program-eligibility-to-15-states</a>
- <sup>82</sup> "Regenerative Agriculture," Cargill. https://web.archive.org/web/20210726175152/https://www.cargillag.com/grow-with-cargill/regenerative-ag-program
- <sup>83</sup> "Cargill RegenConnect™ expands program eligibility to 15 states for 2022-23 crop season," Cargill.
- <sup>84</sup> Ibid.; "Understanding carbon offsets," Cargill. <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20211118212721/https://www.cargill.com/carbon/carbon-solutions/understanding-carbon-offsets">https://web.archive.org/web/20211118212721/https://www.cargill.com/carbon/carbon-solutions/understanding-carbon-offsets</a>
- 85 Indigo Ag, "Earn Income with Carbon Farming: Carbon by Indigo," Earn Income with Carbon Farming I Carbon by Indigo, accessed 2022, https://www.indigoag.com/carbon/for-farmers.; Corteva Agriscience, "Cut through the Carbon Clutter," Corteva, accessed September, 2022, https://granular.ag/carbon/.
- 86 Ibid.
- <sup>87</sup> Ibid.